#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT DALE HENDERSON,	)
Appellant,	)
vs.	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellee.	)

CASE NO. 63,094

FILED

AUG 5 1983

D J. WHITE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT CO IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183

(904) 252-3367 Phone:

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, In and For Hernando County, Florida. In the brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal.

The following symbol will be used:

"R" - Record on Appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by an indictment presented in the Circuit Court of Hernando County, Florida, with three counts of murder in the first degree.

(R 1662-1663) Due to extensive pretrial publicity, an impartial jury could not be seated in Hernando County, and he was tried by a jury in Lake County, Florida, on November 16 through 20, 1982. (R 1937-1938)

Prior to trial, the trial court denied Appellant's motions to suppress statements; to prohibit the State from challenging prospective jurors for cause and from impeaching Appellant by prior convictions; to dismiss the indictment or declare that the death penalty was not a possible penalty; to declare Florida Statute 921.141 unconstitutional; for additional peremptory challenges or to declare Florida Statute 913.08(1) unconstitutional; to quash the jury venire; and to prohibit comment on the Grand Jury's indictment of Appellant. (R 1697-1701, 1704-1706, 1811-1812, 1033, 1813, 1814-1816, 1817-1818, 1819-1820, 1821-1831, 1980)

On the day of trial, Appellant's motion in limine to exclude testimony regarding other acts of misconduct for which Appellant was not on trial was granted in part. (R 1901, 1092-1093) After a deputy violated the prosecutor's instruction not to make the prohibited reference, Appellant's motion for a mistrial was denied. (R 1141-1143, 1464-1465, 1512, 1513) Likewise was Appellant's motion for mistrial denied when reference was made by a witness whom the prosecutor had failed to instruct. (R 1341-1343, 1465, 1513) The trial court also denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial made after the judge, while instructing the jury on the details of their sequestration, indicated that there would be a penalty phase following the verdict. (R 1059, 1061-1064, 1465, 1513)

The trial court denied Appellant's proposed penalty instructions, including a request to instruct that a statement introduced at the penalty phase

regarding remorse was not to be considered because it did not fall within statutory guidelines. (R 1562-1577, 1620) The trial court refused to inquire into possible juror misconduct when defense counsel and the prosecutor observed one juror return to the courtroom after penalty deliberations carrying a paper-back book with, said defense counsel, his finger stuck between the pages. (R 1625-1629)

Appellant was found guilty of each count as charged, and on November 22, 1982, the jury recommended imposition of the death penalty as to each count. (R 1533-1534, 2103-2104, 2147-2149, 1533-1534, 1622-1623) The trial court sentenced Appellant to three consecutive executions by electrocution. (R 1641, 2153-2160)

Appellant's motion for a new trial was denied on December 20, 1982, and his notice of appeal was timely filed on January 14, 1983. (R 2139, 2175) The Office of the Public Defender, Fifth Judicial Circuit, was appointed to represent Appellant on appeal, and the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit, was designated to handle the appeal. (R 2179, 2186)

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Vernon Odum, Robert Dawson, and Frances Dickey each died within minutes of being shot once in the head and losing consciousness upon the bullet's impact. (R 1261, 1268, 1275, 1279, 1280) Their deaths might not have been discovered except that on February 6, 1982, Robert Dale Henderson made a bogus report of an automobile burglary to the Charlotte County Sheriff's Office and, when the deputy arrived, said that he wanted to give himself up for murder. (R 1188, 2307, 1120-1122, 2278) He told Charlotte County deputies that he had killed three hitchhikers in north Florida. (R 1123, 1146-1147)

On February 10th, Deputies Bakker and Hord of the Putnam County

Sheriff's Office took custody of Appellant upon a warrant for a murder in Putnam

County. (R 2210, 2234, 2235, 2216, 2217, 2237, 2290) They were given a document signed by Appellant declaring his desire to not discuss any criminal

matters with anyone. (R 1175, 2218, 2236, 2237, 2266) During the 4½- to five-hour drive from Punta Gorda to Crescent City, the deputies and Appellant engaged in general conversation, and Deputy Hord "could tell" that Appellant had "some-thing on his mind." (R 2267, 2268) When Deputy Bakker went into the Crescent

City Police Department to call the chief of detectives, Deputy Hord asked

Appellant "what he was trying to tell me." (R 2220, 2257-2260, 2266, 2267)

Appellant said that there were three bodies, and he wanted them located. (R

1176, 1184, 2221, 2259, 2261) He was concerned that they be given a proper

burial. (R 2221, 2226, 2227, 2245)

Appellant signed a waiver of rights form, standard except for the addition of a paragraph indicating that he wished to exercise his right to go against his attorney's advice and talk to the deputies. (R 1175, 2221, 2222, 2244, 2261, 2263) The addition had been made before the deputies left the

Sheriff's Office, just in case Appellant wanted to go against what his attorney had said and talk. (R 2221, 2222, 2243, 2261-2263)

Appellant directed the Putnam County deputies to an undeveloped subdivision about one mile inside Hernando County, where the bodies were found. (R 1181, 1182) Frances Dickey and Robert Dawson were identified from their dental records. (R 1289, 1291) Vernon Odum's last dental X-rays could not be obtained from the Mississippi State Prison, and he was identified by his tattoos. (R 1275, 1276, 1282)

On June 11th, Appellant was transported by Detective Perez of the Hernando County Sheriff's Office to the Hernando County Jail. (R 1415) Detective Perez read Appellant his rights, and showed him a picture of one of the hitchhikers. (R 2301, 2302) Appellant said, "No comment." (R 2302) Detective Perez inquired about the case, but Appellant told him he had already given statements to other detectives and the detective must have copies of those. (R 2302, 2303) When Detective Perez said he would like to have the information first hand, Appellant did not say anything. (R 2303) Later during the ride, Appellant agreed to talk. (R 2303)

In his statements to the detectives, Appellant said that he had picked up Dickey, Dawson, and Odum hitchhiking not far from Tallahassee. (R 1176, 1420-1422) They checked into a motel and Appellant gave the two men money to go buy beer. (R 1176, 1177, 1423, 1424) The men returned with a sawed-off shotgun that they said had been stolen. (R 1177) The next morning they headed south. (R 1177, 1423) Appellant told Bakker and Hord that one of the men wanted to stop to test fire the shotgun and have sex with the woman, so they pulled off Highway 44 into the subdivision. (R 1177, 1185) He told Detective Perez that they had stopped to sleep for a couple of hours. (R 1425)

Appellant heard the hitchhikers plotting to get some money, either by killing a rich man in Miami who they hoped would be seduced by either the woman or the homosexual male hitchhiker, or by kidnapping a "rich broad" in Jacksonville or Tallahassee and holding her for ransom. (R 1178, 1184, 1185, 1426, 1442, 1447, 1452) He figured that if they were capable of doing that to someone else, they were capable of doing it to him, and that he had better get them first. (R 1178, 1186, 1189) He had all the money there was among the four of them. (R 1442, 1446) He told Detective Perez that he had the woman tape the men's wrists and ankles together with adhesive tape, and then he taped her hands and feet. (R 1427-1429, 1447) He said he would have just left them there, but they were "running their mouths," so he shot the two men. (R 1429, 1430) The woman broke her tape, and began screaming at him. (R 1430) He taped her back up and, again, would have left her there alive except that she said if he was going to kill her, go ahead and kill her, and he shot her in the head. (R 1430, 1450, 1453) Appellant said he had allowed the boy friend to put on his trousers, but the woman's body was found with only a tube top around her waist. (R 1177, 1190, 1230)

Appellant said that he spent that night in a motel in New Port Richey, abandoned the truck, and lived for a couple of days in the swamps. (R 1433, 1434) A registration card from the Benchley Motel in New Port Richey reflected the same Texas truck tag number as that on a license plate found on a truck located in the woods near a creek in DeSoto County on February 4th. (R 1294-1296, 1306, 1443, 1444) A sawed-off shotgun with white tape around the barrel was found in the creek bed. (R 1308, 1309, 1314, 1316, 1326, 1357) Appellant's fingerprints were identified on a Louisiana license plate and beer bottles with the truck. (R 1362, 1385, 1386) Tape found on the shotgun and the

bodies all compared with rolls of adhesive tape found in the truck. (R 1403-1406; 1356, 1375) Papers belonging to Robert Dawson were in the truck. (R 1354-1356, 1369, 1370, 1372-1374) The bullets which killed Frances Dickey and Robert Dawson may have fired from the gun which Appellant turned over to the Charlotte County Deputy to whom he had surrendered. (R 1391-1393)

Appellant was co-operative with the law enforcement officers with whom he dealt and, in every matter which could be verified, accurate. (R 1126, 1156, 1188, 1191, 1145, 1146, 1150, 1592)

At the penalty phase of Appellant's trial, the State introduced copies of two Putnam County convictions of first-degree murder for which Appellant had been sentenced to consecutive life terms. (R 1581, 1584, 1585) His renewed motion to suppress was denied, and Detective Perez was allowed to testify that in a conversation on July 21st, Appellant had said he would "definitely not" change anything if he had his life to live over. (R 1466, 1586, 1587, 1589-1591)

A reporter testified that Appellant had told her that his father used to beat him, his siblings, and his mother, because of which the family broke up, and that when he was ten years old, his father rented him out for two dollars a day to do heavy log work. (R 1595-1597) Appellant left home early, joined the service, and did not finish school. (R 1596)

Deputy Bakker testified that Appellant told him that he had led the Putnam County deputies to the bodies so that they could be given burial. (R 1599)

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS, AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION AND TO COUNSEL, AS GUARANTEED BY THE CONSTITUTIONS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND OF THE UNITED STATES.

At Appellant's trial, the State was permitted to introduce over objection statements given by Appellant to Putnam County Sheriff's deputies shortly after he had turned himself in and to a Hernando County Sheriff's detective four months later. The Putnam County deputies interviewed Appellant after he had unequivocally invoked his right to counsel during questioning, and the Hernando County detective obtained a statement after Appellant had twice refused to talk.

## A. PUTNAM COUNTY STATEMENT

On February 7, 1982, Appellant signed a "Notice of Defendant's Invocation of the Right to Counsel," stating that he desired to have his attorney present before and during "any questioning, interrogation, interviewing, or other conversation whatsoever" between him and any law enforcement agent. (R 1702) A copy of this declaration was presented to Deputies Bakker and Hord from Putnam County when they came to Charlotte County on February 10th to arrest Appellant upon a warrant which was attacked by the defense as defective. (R 1170, 1171, 1175, 2216, 2218, 2219, 2238, 2258, 2266, 1704-1708) Deputy Bakker

I/ Although unrecorded testimony was given under oath to the issuing magistrate, the affidavit for the warrant contained no facts establishing probable cause, only conclusory language. (R 1707, 2208-2209, 2212, 2214, 2229, 2289) Article I, Section 12, of the Florida Constitution requires that a warrant for the seizure of persons be supported by affidavit, or the information obtained thereby shall not be admissible in evidence. Swartz v. State, 316 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), cert. denied 333 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1976).

had already made one trip to Charlotte County a few days before, and was told that Appellant "wasn't talking to anybody." (R 2208-2210, 2229)

Appellant's statements to the Putnam County deputies and his act of leading them to the bodies in Hernando County were inadmissible against him because the deputies violated his specific assertion of his rights and, when they readvised him of his rights in general, they did so erroneously.

Although Appellant's invocation of right to counsel specifically stated that he desired to have his attorney present during "any . . . conversation whatsoever," and the deputies claimed that they followed his declaration "to the letter," they nevertheless engaged in conversation with Appellant during their 4½- to five-hour drive to Putnam County because, as Deputy Hord said, "You don't ride mute for however many miles that was." (R 2217, 2218, 2238, 2258, 2266, 2270) Deputy Bakker "felt" that Appellant wanted to discuss "the matter" with them because he kept making "subtle statements," like "how dangerous" it was to pick up hitchhikers. (R 2219) Deputy Hord said Appellant did not mention hitchhikers' being dangerous, but Appellant did point out hitchhikers on the side of the road during their drive and said, "Hey! Look at that!" when he saw a woman hitchhiking. (R 2269) Deputy Hord's feeling that Appellant wanted to talk was based on his perceptions of Appellant's facial expressions and physical gestures. (R 2266, 2268) Although Appellant had not said anything, when the deputies stopped at the Crescent City Police Department for Deputy Bakker to use the telephone, Deputy Hord interpreted Appellant's facial expressions to say, "Here I am. I know all these things, and all you're going to do is take me to jail." (R 2260) In being asked what Appellant had done to specifically communicate a desire to talk, Deputy Hord said, "It's hard to describe an expression." (R 2260)

When Deputy Bakker left the car to make the telephone call, Deputy
Hord said he turned to Appellant and asked him, "What are you trying to tell
me?" (R 2259, 2260, 2267, 2268) Appellant indicated that he wanted to help the
deputy "find some bodies." (R 2259, 2261)

Deputy Hord immediately contacted Deputy Bakker inside the police department because, although the deputies said they had no intention of violating Appellant's invocation, they had earlier determined that in the event that Appellant wanted to make a statement, or "information came to light,"

Sergeant Bakker was the officer that would deal with that. (R 2263-2264, 2220, 2221) Further, although the deputies protested that they complied with Appellant's declaration "to the letter," they also happened to carry with them, at their detective chief's instructions, a specially prepared waiver of rights form which included an extra paragraph indicating Appellant's understanding of his "Constitutional Rights to disregard the instructions of my attorney and to speak with the Officers from Putnam County, Florida." (R 2274, 1703) The alteration in the standard waiver form had been made before the deputies had left the Sheriff's Office, "just in case" Appellant wanted to go against his attorney's advice. (R 2221, 2222, 2243, 2244, 2261-2263)

Deputy Bakker readvised Appellant of his rights "in great detail," but also in error. (R 2221, 2248, 1703) He told Appellant:

"Before we ask you any questions, you must understand your rights. You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in court. You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advise [sic] before we ask you any questions, and to have him with you during questioning. You have this right to the advice and presence of a lawyer even if you

cannot afford to hire one. We have no way of giving you a lawyer, but one will be appointed for you, if you wish, if and when you go to court. If you wish to answer questions now without a lawyer present, you have the right to stop answering questions at any time. You also have the right to stop answering at any time until you talk to a lawyer. (R 1703, 2222, 2248) (Emphasis supplied.)

This misinformation given to Appellant is remarkably similar to that communicated to the accused in <u>Cribbs v. State</u>, 378 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In that case, the police chief told Cribbs that it was his understanding that "a Public Defender cannot represent you unless the court appoints him to represent you on a particular matter." The District Court held that the police chief's remarks to the effect that Cribbs could not talk to a lawyer until one had been appointed by the court vitiated the <u>Miranda</u> warnings previously given to him. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

The Putnam County deputies' statement that they had "no way" of giving Appellant a lawyer was far more emphatic than the police chief's musing in <a href="Cribbs">Cribbs</a>. In the age of the telephone and two-way radios, it is also incredible. Deputy Bakker denied that anyone suggested that they not take Appellant to the Putnam County Jail because he might come into contact with a lawyer there; but even though their subsequent travels took them through the Putnam County seat of Palatka, no effort was made to place Appellant in communication with a lawyer until after the bodies had been located in Hernando County. (R 2251, 2248)

The deputies acknowledged their awareness of various techniques for obtaining confessions, including being "friendly" but, as Deputy Bakker said, "I'm not saying I used that technique on him." (R 2240, 2265) Deputy Hord, who had found that "being friendly will get a confession," testified that a "friendly atmosphere" prevailed on the five-hour trip from Charlotte to Putnam County.

(R 2265) The deputies insisted that they did not set out to get a statement from Appellant; that just happened to be the end result. (R 2240, 2243)

The deputies' innocent protestations are belied by nearly their every When Deputy Hord began his questioning of Appellant, and Appellant indicated that he wanted to help find some bodies, Deputy Bakker began to talk about a "proper burial" for the victims. (R 2259, 2261, 2221, 2226, 2227, 2245) The fact that finding the bodies, not self-incrimination, was Appellant's intention is borne out by his refusing to be approached by Hernando County deputies at the scene and conversing only with his "friends" from Putnam County. (R 2226) Whether Deputy Bakker really had never heard of the "Christian burial technique" as he claimed or not, this subtle appeal to conscience is an impermisible means of overcoming a suspect's prior assertion of his right to counsel. Brewer v. Williams, 439 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977); Jones v. State, 346 So.2d 629 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). Any attempt to frustrate so unequivocal an invocation of rights as Appellant's is a violation of those rights, and renders a confession inadmissible. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981). The idea that Appellant "just happened" to start talking to the deputies, through no design of theirs, is disproved by the fact that they "just happened" to have a custom-made waiver of rights form with them which, if they could get him to sign it, would specifically countermand the declaration of rights which they insisted they had scrupulously honored.

Appellant's statements came at the end of a five-hour car ride during which a "friendly atmosphere" prevailed, and he and the deputies engaged in conversation. The deputies fed Appellant in St. Petersburg, bought cigarettes for him in Orlando, out of Deputy Bakker's pocket, and, after he had signed the defective waiver of rights form, Appellant was given hamburgers, cigarettes, coffee, and more comfortable shoes. (R 2246-2247)

The illegal arrest, the dishonoring of Appellant's intent not to converse with the deputies without a lawyer; the questioning of Appellant after his insistence on his rights; the "friendly atmosphere," refreshments and reference to a "proper burial" for the deceased; and the distorted version of constitutional rights which climaxed this succession—each factor compounds the taint of the former, and renders Appellant's statements against himself involuntary and violative of his rights to counsel and against self-incrimination. The admission of the statements and the tangible evidence gathered as a result of the statements was improper. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963); Art. I, \$9, Fla. Const.; Amends. V, VI, and XIV, U.S. Const.

## B. HERNANDO COUNTY STATEMENTS

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