)

)

)

)

)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FILED

SEP 13 1983

J. WHITE

ROBERT DALE HENDERSON, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

) CASE NO. 63,094

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Robert Dale Henderson was charged with three counts of first degree murder (R 1662-1663). Henderson proceeded to jury trial on the charges, at which time he conceded "involvement" in the deaths of the victims (R 1111), but stated that "at worst" he was guilty of second degree murder rather than first (R 1119). Henderson openly admitted killing the victims (R 1116-1118) and to this date has never professed total innocence. Rather, he simply claims that a lesser degree of murder applies (R 1119, 1120).

The facts relevant to each of Henderson's points on appeal are as follows:

#### FACTS, POINT I (Suppression)

Henderson gave so many statements and confessions that it is difficult to track them all. Only two are challenged on appeal, those being his statements of February 10, 1982, to officers Bakker and Hord, and those of June 2, 1982, to deputy Perez.

A] The February 10, 1982 statements.

On February 6, 1982, Henderson telephoned a false auto-burglary report to the Charlotte County Sheriff's office. Subsequent to his report, he met Officer Moore (R 1121).

Henderson came up to Moore and spontaneously gave himself up for murder (R 1122). Moore gave Henderson his rights

-1-

(R 1122) at which time Henderson confessed to killing three hitchhikers (R 1123). The Appellant then handed over his gun (R 1124).

Later that day, Henderson met with detective Lucas of the Charlotte Sheriff's Office (R 1140). Lucas gave Henderson his second set of Miranda warnings (R 1145), and Henderson gave a more detailed account of the murder of the three victims (R 1146-47). Henderson executed a written waiver of rights (R 1153).

On February 7, 1982, Henderson signed a written "invocation" of right to counsel (R 1702).

On February 9, 1982, deputy R. W. Bakker applied for and obtained an arrest warrant against Henderson in an unrelated murder (R 1707, 1708). Henderson later plead guilty to the murder of Dr. Ferderber and never challenged the arrest warrant.

On February 10, 1982, Bakker and Hord transported Henderson from Charlotte County to Putnam County.

Bakker testified at the suppression hearing that Henderson's case was not discussed en route (R 2218) despite subtle comments about hitchhikers by Henderson (R 2219). This fact was corroborated by deputy Hord (R 2258).

Bakker testified that upon their arrival in Putnam County, they stopped at the Crescent City Police Department to call in (R 2220). Bakker went in to make the call while Hord

-2-

remained in the car with Henderson.

Bakker stated that Hord entered the station and said that Henderson wanted to talk (R 2220). Henderson was Mirandized for the (third?) time, receiving the additional reminder that his talking violated the advice of his attorney (R 2221). This waiver was explained in depth until Henderson fully understood it (R 2222-23).

Henderson then took Bakker and Hord to the bodies (R 2224).

At the suppression hearing, defense counsel argued with deputy Bakker, insinuating some subterfuge on Bakker's Part (R 2239-42). The Appellant offered no evidence whatsoever to refute the officers' testimony. Suppression was properly denied on the basis of the evidence.

B] Hernando County.

At the suppression hearing the court took the unrefuted testimony of deputy Antonio Perez regarding Henderson's later statements. Perez testified that once again Henderson was Mirandized (R 2303).

At first, Henderson did refuse to speak, <u>but only</u> <u>because</u> he did not wish to repeat what he had already told the police, which, he said, he knew the police already had in writing (R 2302). Henderson was not refusing to speak because of a desire to withhold incriminating information.

-3-

Henderson's statement corroborated his earlier ones (R 2303-04).

Henderson's talkative nature, without regard for the consequences, was also proven by the State's production of notes, written by Henderson to Perez, asking Perez to visit him in jail (R 1866-71).

Henderson also contracted with a newspaper to tell "his side" to the public (and to publicize complaints about his treatment) (R 1710-1758). Henderson's efforts were opposed by his own lawyer, Mr. Springstead, as well as the State (R 1760-87).

Henderson even appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeals.

#### FACTS: POINT II

Henderson filed a "Motion in Limine" on the first day of trial which was in fact an untimely motion to suppress (R 70).

At the hearing, defense counsel objected to any testimony to the effect that Henderson was wanted in other states for murder, but agreed the witnesses could simply state that Henderson was wanted in other states (R 73).

The State argued that any references to other crimes were unsolicited comments by Henderson to the police when he surrendered and that these comments placed "in context" his

-4-

arrest (R 74).

The motion in limine was "generally granted" along the parameters set by defense counsel (R 74).

During trial, witness Lucas said that the teletype showed that Henderson was wanted in other states (R 1141). Although the comment was no more than Henderson had agreed could come in, defense counsel objected (R 1141), and the court gave a curative instruction (R 1142, 1143).

Defense counsel claimed prejudice and moved for mistrial (R 1143).

An earlier defense objection was also overruled (R 1122).

The defense in this case, however, was that Henderson committed second, rather than first, degree murder (R 1111-1113). In his opening, defense counsel related Henderson's confession (R 1116-1118) and requested a guilty verdict on a lesser offense (R 1120).

Thus, the key issue at trial was whether first or second degree murder had been committed, and Henderson's criminal tendencies were of added importance.

#### FACTS: POINT III

The record merely shows that the trial judge gave the jury an approximation of how long the whole case could take.

-5-

#### FACTS: POINT IV

The State took care to use only black and white photographs as evidence to lessen the impact of these necessary but repulsive photographs (R 1228).

#### FACTS: POINT V

No jurors were disqualified by statute, although some were entitled to excusal upon request (R 54).

#### FACTS: POINT VI

The trial court found three aggravating factors (R 2157-2160) to wit:

- The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony (FS 921.141 (5)(6)).
- (2) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. (FS. 921.141(5)(h)).
- (3) The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (FS. 921.141(S)(i)).

The jury recommended death 11 to 1 (R 2159).

The jury rejected the non-statutory mitigating factors (Henderson's artistic talent, cooperative nature and surrender) and the trial judge found them to be of "little", if any, weight" (R 2160).

Only two aggravating factors have been challenged.

#### ARGUMENT: POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS SELECTED CONFESSIONS OF THE APPELLANT.

Mr. Henderson has chosen to appeal the trial court's decision not to suppress two of his confessions, to wit: his February 10, 1982, and June 2, 1982, confessions.

Among the confessions not appealed are his two February 6, 1982 confessions and his own opening argument at trial, where he (through counsel) fully admitted the three murders, and stated as a defense that the killings were second degree murders rather than first degree murders.

Why, then, should Henderson bother to appeal this issue? Even if these two confessions had been suppressed, the other two confessions and his own theory of the case (as argued) would convict him.

#### A] The Putnam County Confession.

After Henderson had received his "Miranda" rights and freely confessed on February 6, 1982, Henderson executed a document "invoking his right to counsel." This document, dated February 7, 1982, was honored.

On February 10, 1982, deputies Bakker and Hord arrived to arrest Henderson on an unrelated murder charge from Putnam County. (This charge stemmed from Henderson's murder of a store clerk and a doctor Ferderber in Putnam County).

-7-

Henderson was taken into custody on a valid arrest warrant; and plead guilty to the charges.

On appeal in this case, Henderson has challenged the sufficiency of the Ferderber warrant, claiming that it was defective - and thus, any confession was invalid as illegally obtained. In support, Henderson cites <u>Swartz v.</u> <u>State</u>, 316 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1 DCA 1975) cert. den. 333 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1976).

This argument lacks merit for many reasons, even if not waived.

First, arrest warrants are not search warrants. Thus, Swartz (id) does not govern our case.

Second, the arrest warrant complies fully with <u>Fla.R.C.P</u>. 3.121, as to content.

Third, Henderson surrendered himself and confessed to these murders <u>prior</u> to the issuance of the warrant. He was already in custody; he was not "seized".

Fourth, since Henderson called the police himself and confessed to murders the department was (in some cases) not even aware of, his surrender and confession assuredly gave the officers probable cause to arrest.

As noted recently in Justus v. State, \_\_\_\_\_So.2d \_\_\_\_,

1. Henderson never challenged the warrant in the Ferderber case, and plead guilty to the murder. Any constitutional or statutory claim regarding that warrant was waived.

-8-

(Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 318], warrants are not even necessary in all cases. Especially where a suspect is arrested "in public" by police who have probable cause to believe a felony has been committed.

In any event, Henderson was transported by Bakker and Hord to Putnam County to face charges in the Ferderber homicide.

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, the <u>only</u> evidence presented to the court was that the police made no effort to trick or induce Henderson into any additional confessions.

Henderson freely and voluntarily decided to talk, at which time the "Miranda" waiver was executed.

As the Appellant notes, the form contained language stating:

"We have no way of giving you a lawyer, but one will be appointed for you, if you wish, if and when you go to court."

The meaning of this passage is not totally clear. Did it mean that no lawyer would be available until court? Or did it mean simply that the police (as opposed to the court) could not retain defense counsel?

The question of the accuracy of this statement is, unfortunately for Henderson, purely academic, since Henderson waived any review on this point.

-9-

Neither of Henderson's motions to suppress challenge the voluntariness of his confession on the basis of this statement. Nor did Henderson argue this point at the suppression hearing. The "defect" was apparently discovered for the first time by Appellate counsel. Since it was not raised below, it cannot be raised here. <u>Wainwright</u> v. Sykes, 97 S.Ct. 2497 (1977).

Notwithstanding the waiver, Henderson alleges that the "misinformation" contained in the waiver form prompted him to give an "involuntary" confession, citing <u>Cribbs v.</u> State, 378 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1 DCA 1980).

Cribbs is totally unlike our case.

Cribbs was picked up for questioning. Henderson called the police and confessed. Cribbs asked to speak to a lawyer prior to questioning, and tried to call his lawyer. Henderson gave two separate confessions (after receiving Miranda warnings) <u>before</u> invoking his rights to counsel. Cribbs was questioned without "receiving his rights."

The Cribbs case opined (id at 319):

"Had Cribbs received a timely first appearance, the taint from the previous misinformation given by Parrish may well have been cured."

Since there is no "correct" or "talismanic" official Miranda warning,<sup>2</sup> and since Henderson received "correct"

2. <u>State v. Delgado.</u> So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) [8 FLW 679]. Miranda warnings prior to his confession to Officer Lucas (and his "invocation" of the right to counsel), it cannot be said that Henderson was duped into making an "involuntary" confession, under the "totality of the circumstances." <u>Burch v.</u> <u>State,</u> 343 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1977); <u>Clewis v. Texas</u>, 386 U.S. 707, 87 S.Ct. 1338 (1967); see also <u>Frazier v. Cupp</u>, 394 U.S. 731, 89 S.Ct. 1420 (1969).

The State would again note that even if Henderson's third confession was "involuntary," his numerous voluntary confessions more than defeat any claim of error. <u>Turner v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1 DCA 1983) [8 FLW 935].

#### B] HERNANDO COUNTY STATEMENTS

Central to the issue of voluntariness is the question of whether a suspect who has invoked his right to counsel can change his mind.

The answer, of course, is "yes." <u>King v. State,</u> So.2d (Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 271].

The Appellant notes that Henderson invoked his right to counsel before being picked up by detective Perez for transport to Hernando County. By this time, Henderson had been "Mirandized", and had confessed, a number of times.

Henderson at first refused to speak to Perez, but <u>only</u> because he felt the police already had copies of his statement. (R 2302-2303). Perez said he merely wanted to hear "first hand" that which Henderson had already told the other officers.

Henderson eventually decided to speak.

Henderson's case is remarkably similar to that of <u>King v. State</u> (id). King, like Henderson, initiated contact with the police, confessed, then invoked his rights. While King was held by the Daytona Beach Police, the Orlando Police arrived and tried to question him. King refused until the Orlando officer said he merely wanted to hear the same confession King had already given.

This Honorable Court, citing the "circumstances" test of <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477 (1981) and <u>Michigan v. Mosely</u>, 423 U.S. 96 (1975) reaffirmed that there is "no paternalistic rule" protecting defendants from the consequences of their own decisions, and that the question of King's "knowing" and "intelligent" waiver of rights was one of fact, not to be reweighed on appeal. King's conviction was affirmed.

Indeed, the Appellant at bar has based his entire argument on the proposition that the trial judge did not weigh the evidence correctly, and was not sufficiently cynical or suspicious of the police, and should have rejected their uncontradicted testimony and ruled in his favor. Now, on appeal, he wants this uncontradicted evidence reweighed, despite <u>Tibbs v.</u> State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), 102 S.Ct. 2211 (1982).

The fact is that the trial judge's factual determinations must stand, and that these two confessions (even if

-12-

"improper") must be viewed against Henderson's numerous other confessions that have not been challenged. Finally, if any doubt remains as to Henderson's "willingness" to talk, the State would note Henderson's actions regarding the news media - in defiance of his lawyer.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING IN PART HENDERSON'S MOTION IN LIMINE.

Henderson's defense, as he stated in his opening argument to the jury, was that his actions were not "first degree" murder, but merely second degree.

Thus, the trial did not seek to resolve "who" killed the victims, but "why." Was it premeditated murder? Part of a continuing pattern of approximately twelve killings? Or was it a spontaneous, reckless or wanton shooting conducted without regard to the consequences?

The so-called "Williams Rule"<sup>3</sup> states that evidence of other crimes is admissible to show identity, motive, pattern of criminality, intent and lack of mistake.

Thus, in <u>Justus v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, (Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 318] this court found no error in the admission of evidence of other murders committed in Georgia. Said evidence being used to prove "lack of mistake." A similar result obtained in <u>Washington v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, (Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 174].

Actually, this case does not so much involve "proof" of other crimes as it does minor, abstract references to other

3. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.) cert.den. 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

-14-

"charges".

One reference was made by Henderson, spontaneously, when he first turned himself in. This comment was admissible. Blake v. State, 336 So.2d 454 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

The second was an inadvertent reference to a teletype reflecting that Henderson was wanted for homicide in other states. A comment which the judge ordered the jury to ignore and the jury presumably obeyed.

Again, however, we return to the issue on trial; the degree of murder committed!

Given the overwhelming evidence, including all the confessions, can it be seriously alleged that the jury convicted Henderson because of the teletype comment? Of course not.

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